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 Introduction 
 
 This Property History, prepared for property owners Eric Andersen and Jeet 
Sohal, documents the history of the Windsor Estate, which is located at 454 S. Windsor 
Boulevard in Los Angeles, California. The story of the Windsor Estate, as it is commonly 
known, begins as part of an unrealized compound for the prominent Janss family and 
continues through a series of equally notable owners. Purchased in 1917 from the 
Janss family as unimproved land, the Windsor Estate was built in 1918 for retired Iowan 
capitalist James P. Martin and his wife Emma. The Martins commissioned then notable 
designer and builder Frank L. Meline to create their residence blending Mediterranean 
Revival and Italian Renaissance Revival. Nearly 100 years later the home survives with 
many character-defining features that make it a contributor to the designated Windsor 
Square Historic Preservation Overlay Zone.  
 
 The report begins with a description of the property and a summary of the 
property’s history in local context. It then discusses the architectural style and architect. 
The report concludes with an evaluation of the property’s historic integrity. In order to 
document the property’s history the author conducted an intensive-level survey of the 
building including a records search, historical research, and a site inspection. The 
author, who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards 
in architectural history, conducted all documentation.  
 
  

Property and Architectural Description 
 
The Windsor Estate is located on the northeast corner of S. Windsor Boulevard 

and West 5th Street on Lot 81 and the southern 50 feet of Lot 82 of Tract  #1390 (APN 
5501-003-001). According to the Los Angeles County Assessor’s map, the property 
measures approximately 150 feet wide along the west side (S. Windsor, on which the 
house fronts), 180 feet along the south side (W. 5th), 150 feet along the east property 
line, and 180 feet along the north property line, encompassing approximately .619 
acres. The house’s primary (west) facade, which is set well back from the street, faces 
onto S. Windsor Boulevard. In addition to the main house, the property contains a one 
and a half-story garage with living accommodations on the second floor; a swimming 
pool and separate hot tub (1953); and fully landscaped grounds including lawns, mature 
trees, terraces, fountains and walkways. The property is located within a fully developed 
residential neighborhood featuring primarily rectilinear streets, mature trees, and large 
lots dating to the initial subdivision of Windsor Square. The majority of houses in the 
area are large homes and mansions dating from the 1910s to the 1930s.  
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The house is a U-shaped, 30-foot high, two-story, single-family residence, with 
partial basement, built in 1918 in the Mediterranean Revival and Italian Renaissance 
Revival styles. Framed with wood and set on a concrete foundation, the exterior walls 
have a smooth stucco finish and are topped by hipped roofs clad with Spanish tiles. The 
primary façade is situated at the bottom of the “U” along S. Windsor Boulevard and is 
believed to be original. A half circle stairway projects off the back between the north and 
south wings. On the east elevation of the north wing the original sleeping porch was 
enclosed (1927) and a one-story addition (1928) projects off the north elevation. On the 
south wing an original chimney projects off the south elevation and a porch was 
enclosed (1927) over the porte cochère.  

 
The primary façade features a balanced three-bay asymmetry with a projected 

middle bay. Within the northern bay there are two symmetrically placed pairs of French 
doors, with two lights divided with the smaller light roughly in the top fifth of the door. 
The doors are void of any decorative surround. Two horizontally oriented, rectangular 
panels of low-relief sculpture are located just above the doors. Upstairs, two double-
hung, six-over-six, wood sash windows are bookmarked by faux shutters in the form of 
vertically oriented low-relief sculpted panels. The central bay is dominated by the 
entryway featuring a rounded eight-panel wood door accented by a stone surround, 
dominated by two unfluted masonry columns. Ionic capitals are topped by an 
entablature with a cornice featuring egg and dart ornamentation. A balcony with 
balustrade sits above. Behind the balustrade a pair of ten-light French doors feature a 
masonry surround containing botanical mid-relief sculpture. The southern bay features 
an asymmetrical arrangement of windows and doors. On the ground floor four Tuscan 
pilasters, with unadorned entablature, surround two doors identical to those of the 
northern bay. A wide center window continues the same two-light design. Simple 
unadorned iron railings complete the trio of doors and window. On the second floor two 
double-hung, six-over-six, wood sash windows of different widths are closely paired to 
the left of the bay. Low-relief faux shutters adorn both windows. Another pair of ten-light 
French doors is situated towards the right end of the bay. A cantilevered balcony with 
simple iron railing finishes the French doors.  

 
On the interior, the Windsor Estate is laid out on the ground floor with two 

reception rooms on either side of the foyer. These rooms reflect a variety of period 
classical details likely original to the house. Beginning with the foyer, Mahogany 
paneling and cased openings feature botanical appliqué. Opposite the front door a 
curved staircase showcases three leaded glass windows with stained glass medallions 
featuring impressions of classical women. To the south of the foyer the large rectangular 
living room exhibits a marble fireplace mantle, cornice boards, and a restored paint 
scheme of celadon green and gilding. Off the southeast corner of the living room is 
another Mahogany paneled sitting room. A large chamfered bay projects from the 
southern end of the room. To the north of the foyer the dining room features more 
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Mahogany paneling with the upper quarter of the walls finished in pressed paper. A half 
octagonal breakfast room projects to the north of the dining room. Direct access to the 
rear yard is available through the foyer, kitchen, living room, and rear sitting room. 
Upstairs there are five bedrooms, two accessed from the stair landing, and three off a 
corridor running the length of the north wing.  

 
 
Early History and Historical Context: Windsor Square 
 

 The story of Windsor Square begins with the Mexican land grants of the 
nineteenth century. As part of the public lands, the original Windsor Square (Tract 
#1390) was not previously part of a rancho land grant. It was, however, located 
immediately east of the former Rancho La Brea. (See Figure 1, Page 28) In 1828 José 
Antonio Carrillo, the Alcalda of Los Angeles (a municipal magistrate), gave Rancho La 
Brea (4,439 acres) to Antonio Jose Rocha and Nemisio Dominguez. Portions of the 
Rancho’s eastern boundary abutted the western edge of the original Windsor Square 
(comprised of eleven tracts today). In 1868, long before there was a Windsor Square, 
Canadian-born mariner Capt. John Cornelius Plummer acquired 640 acres of this public 
land to use for farming. (See Figure 2, Page 29) Tradition tells that in 1885, amidst Los 
Angeles’ first large land boom, Capt. Plummer sold 200 of these acres, at $400 per 
acre, to real estate syndicate Windsor Square Land Company (W.S. Land Co.).1 
However, newspaper reports from 1892 announced that the W.S. Land Co. was 
incorporated on March 17, 1892 and that three months later on June 12th it acquired the 
unimproved 200 acres that would become Tract #1390.2 (See Figures 3-4, Page 30) 
The present day boundaries of those 200 acres are reportedly Beverly Boulevard on the 
north, Wilshire Boulevard on the south, Plymouth Boulevard/Larchmont Boulevard on 
the west, and Bronson Avenue on the east. While numerous streets within the 
community had their names changed between 1912 and 1920, for the reader’s 
convenience this report uses only their present day names. Seventeen years after W.S. 
Land Co. purchased the acreage fate began to change for its owners. On October 21, 
1909 Windsor Square was annexed as part of the 5,579-acre Colegrove Addition. This 
annexation pushed the northwest corner boundary of Los Angeles from Wilshire  

                                                
 1 A 1911 Los Angeles Times article reporting the 1885 sale date and price has been widely relied 
upon in retelling the early history of Windsor Square. That article was: “To Make New Chester Place in 
Western Part of City,” Los Angeles Times, June 3, 1911. 
 2 In June 1892 W.S.L.C. acquired the East ½ of Southwest ¼ and East ½ of Northwest ¼ of Lots 
1, 2, 3, 4 of Section 23, Township 1, Southwest Range 14, which appears to be all or part of the original 
Windsor Square Tract No.1390. That tract was surveyed in 1911 as comprising a “subdivision of portions 
of Lots 1, 2, 3, 4 and the East ½ of West ½ of Section 23, Township 1, Southern Range 14, West of the 
San Bernardino Meridian. “Real Estate Transaction,” Los Angeles Herald, June 12, 1892. and “Tract No. 
1390” Plat Map. Los Angeles County Department of Public Works, September 21, 1911.  
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Windsor Square looking north, circa 1920. The Windsor Estate can be seen at center of 
photograph and in the inset. Wilshire Boulevard is to the south with 3rd Street to the north.  
Source: USC Digital Library, California Historical Society Collection, #CHS-10047. Charles C. Pierce, photographer.  
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Boulevard and Bronson to a north-south line between Hudson Avenue and June Street. 
Only two years later the Windsor Square property began to make headlines within the 
broad trend of the City’s westward expansion.  

 
Tract #1390, the largest within the community, was surveyed in July 1911 and 

officially recorded on September 21, 1911. Windsor Square Land Company and 
Windsor Square Investment Company were listed as co-owners. That same year W.S. 
Investment Co., led by Robert A. Rowan, paid $1,000,000 ($5,000 per acre) to W.S. 
Land Co. Windsor Square become Tract #1390’s official name when Mr. Rowan, of R.A. 
Rowan and Company, began marketing the property for high end, single family, 
residential development. The initial marketing entailed only the portion of the Tract south 
of 3rd Street, north of Wilshire Boulevard, just west of S. Plymouth Boulevard and east to 
S. Bronson Avenue. (See Figures 5- 7, Pages 31-32) There were 413 lots in the initial 
subdivision. Rowan employed typical tactics of the period by encouraging prominent 
citizens to settle in his new development. The Hellman family as members of both the 
selling and buying syndicates were the logical choice. Known across Los Angeles for 
their banking success, family member Irving Hellman agreed to buy several lots in 
exchange for having Irving Boulevard named in his honor. Rowan subsequently 
maximized the promotional value of the Hellman name. Half a million dollars worth of 
improvements, such as buried utilities and decorative lampposts (with perpetual 
maintenance), and building restrictions, such as minimum setbacks and building cost 
guidelines, were employed to further ensure strong sales and lasting aesthetic quality. 
(See Figures 8-10, Pages 33-34) 

 
Development of Windsor Square began in about 1907 along the east and 

southern boundaries of the community. The earliest extant houses are those at 605, and 
627 S. Plymouth Boulevard, both from 1906, and 546 S. Norton Avenue, from 1907. The 
earliest homes were designed predominantly in the Craftsman, Italian Renaissance 
Revival, and Beaux Arts styles. The vast majority of homes were built in the next wave 
during the 1910s and 1920s. They featured a wider variety of then prominent period 
revival styles such as Tudor Revival, English Revival, Colonial Revival, Spanish Colonial 
Revival, and Mediterranean Revival. Reflective of its quality architecture and 
craftsmanship on a grand scale, the City’s Bureau of Street Lighting prepared distinctive 
lighting for the tracts within Windsor Square.3 On the north-south streets of Tract #1390 
R.A. Rowan utilized an elaborate fluted column lamp post with cross bar and three 
lanterns. The bases featured “WS” emblazoned on a shield (extant in a simpler form). 
Its original appearance was featured in a 1914 advertisement. (See Figure 10, Page 34) 
Numerous additional lamp styles were employed throughout the larger Windsor Square.  
                                                
 3 On November 22, 1988 the Los Angeles City Council adopted Ordinance 164008-164208, 
which established the Windsor Square Historic Street Light Preservation District. The first of its kind in Los 
Angeles, the District includes 112 lamps.  
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Comprised of eleven tracts, all of Windsor Square was surveyed and subdivided 
by June 1921. The second biggest tract, #3743, distinguished by its curvilinear streets, 
was acquired by Tracy E. Shoults Company, in 1920, from R.A. Rowan, and initially 
marketed as Windsor Heights. The 1920s were an especially significant time for 
Windsor Square and the neighboring communities. In 1921 Larchmont Boulevard, 
between 1st Street and Beverly Boulevard, was developed into some thirty stores by 
capitalist Julius J. La Bonte. A Los Angeles Times announcement boasted it would soon 
rival Western Avenue as a shopping center. Reflective of the burgeoning residential 
community, the 1920s saw numerous significant civic and ecclesiastical buildings 
constructed within Windsor Square. Among these were Wilshire Congregational Church 
(709 S. Plymouth Boulevard, in 1924, by Allison & Allison), St. Brendan’s Roman 
Catholic Church (300 S. Van Ness Avenue, in 1926, by Emmet G. Martin), and the B’nai 
Brith Synagogue (3605 Wilshire Boulevard, in 1928, by Edelman, Allison & Allison). In 
tandem with the community’s religious needs, a new library soon met its cultural and 
intellectual needs. In 1926 the Los Angeles Library Association (Founded in 1874) built 
the John C. Fremont Library at 2621 Melrose Avenue (Merl L. Barker, Historic Cultural 
Monument #303). Even before Larchmont Boulevard and the growth of churches to 
serve a burgeoning residential population, the film industry had discovered the open 
swaths of land. In 1915 Cline Studios (now Raleigh Studios) moved to Melrose and 
Bronson Avenues. A decade later in 1926 Paramount Studios acquired its location at 
5500 Melrose Avenue from United Studios. Windsor Square’s architectural beauty from 
the early twentieth century fared quite well through the following decades. It was this 
rich history that prompted actions to come.  

 
Many decades later in 1999 the architecturally rich and well-preserved 

community began to consider designation as a Historic Preservation Overlay Zone 
(HPOZ). Initiated by the Windsor Square Association (WSA) during its November 1999 
annual meeting, the road to designation spanned the next six years. As a result, 
preservation policy in Los Angeles would never be the same. Concerned about the 
broad powers provided to the Design Review Boards under the now former HPOZ 
ordinance, the WSA sought a mechanism “to limit the jurisdiction . . . so that only the 
types of remodels that affected the character of the neighborhood would be subject to 
HPOZ review, while issues that did not create broad concern in the neighborhood were 
exempt from any extra City review.”4 They, along with other HPOZ’s and additional 
interested parties, lobbied the City to make the amendments to the HPOZ ordinance 
that ultimately resulted in the 2004 version. In summarizing the community’s 
significance, the Historic Resources Survey (a precursor to any historical designation) 
stated ‘’. . . the majority of the individual buildings and the neighborhood as a whole 

                                                
 4 Welborne, John, ed., “The History of Windsor Square and the Windsor Square Association,” 
Windsor Square Association.   
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retain their association with the historic development of this part of Los Angeles.’5  With 
remarkably high historic integrity, exemplified by nearly 90% of the 1,239 homes 
determined to be ‘contributing,” the City Council adopted the Windsor Square HPOZ on 
September 29, 2004.6 The boundaries of the district are Beverly Boulevard on the north, 
Wilshire Boulevard on the south, Arden Boulevard on the west, and Van Ness Avenue 
on the east. The subject property is located in the center of Tract #1390 and the 
southwest corner of the HPOZ. 

 
 
Owner History 

 
The Windsor Estate is the result of grand plans unrealized. On September 8, 

1911, soon after the tract was subdivided, the Janss Investment Company acquired six 
lots for $67,000. Company founder and family patriarch Dr. Peter Janss (1859-1926) 
emigrated from Denmark in 1870. Trained at Northwestern University, Janss came to 
Los Angeles in 1893 to establish a medical practice. In 1901 Dr. Janss formed the 
Janss Investment Company and a few years later his sons Dr. Edwin (1882-1959) and 
Harold (1889-1972) came into the business. Spanning three generations the family 
business developed an estimated 90,000 acres of Southern California. Perhaps most 
notable though is their 1922 donation of 385 acres that became UCLA’s campus. The 
Janss Investment Company subsequently developed Westwood Village, Westwood 
Hills, Holmby Hills, and Holmby Hills Estates.7  
 
 The Company’s purchase of the southern half of block three initiated what was 
intended to become the private Janss family compound.8  In 1913 title to the six lots 
transferred to the individual Janss family members. Dr. Peter Janss took lots 103 and 
104, with his youngest child Harold taking lot 102. All three lots were located along 
Lorraine Boulevard. Middle child Dr. Edwin Janss obtained lot 83 and the northern half 
of lot 82. Harold H. Braly (1879-1931), husband to eldest child Henrietta (1880-1935), 
took title to the southern half of lot 82 and all of lot 81 (subject property). Facing S. 
Windsor Boulevard, these three lots abutted the backs of Peter and Harold Janss’ three 
lots.  
 
   
                                                
 5 Myra Frank & Associates, Windsor Square Historic Resources Survey, (September 2000), 
quoted in Windsor Square HPOZ Preservation Plan sec. 5.0. 
 6 Press Release. Councilmember Tom LaBonge 4th District. September 29, 2004. 
 7 In 1929 the Janss Investment Company built their headquarters at 1045-1099 Westwood Blvd. 
It was designated a Los Angeles Historic-Cultural Monument in 1988 (#364).  
 8 Block three is bounded on the north by 4th Street, on the south by 5th Street, on the west by S. 
Windsor Boulevard and on the east by Lorraine Boulevard. 
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Dr. Peter Janss (1859-1926), undated.  
Source: Ancestry.com. 
 

Henrietta Janss Braly (1880-
1935), undated.  
Source: Ancestry.com. 
 

Dr. Edwin Janss (1882-1959), undated.  
Source: Los Angeles Public Library, #00056826. 
 

Harold Janss (1889-1972), 1929.  
Source: Los Angeles Public Library, #00060160. 
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 Titles may have changed hands in 1913 but news was already out about the 
future compound. The Los Angeles Times began chronicling progress of the Janss 
family plans as early as September 9, 1911. Likened to the contemporary compound of 
John D. Rockefeller, the Janss compound was to entail four houses situated in the four 
outer corners with a shared family park centered between them. A tennis court was to 
be constructed for use by son-in-law tennis champion Harold H. Braly. In late 1912 the 
family reportedly added a seventh lot across S. Windsor Boulevard for use as a shared 
garage and greenhouse. (See Figures 11-17, Pages 35-37) 
 
 German-born architect J. Martyn Haenke (1877-1964) was to design all four 
residences in a harmony of Italian Renaissance style.9 Edwin Janss was first to break 
ground for his twelve-room residence at 434 S. Windsor (lots 83 and northern half of 
82). A Los Angeles Times article published on January 5, 1913 announced completion 
of the home and featured a rendering showing a sizable formal garden immediately 
south of the home, on what was the northern part of lot 82. Peter Janss broke ground at 
455 Lorraine Boulevard (lots 103 and 104) in the fall of 1912. The dream of a family 
compound was short lived as both Harold Janss (lot 102) and Henrietta (lots 81 and 
southern half of 82) decided to sell their unimproved lots in 1917. It seems probable that 
their decisions contributed to Peter Janss opting to sell his home in March 1917 to New 
York capitalist William H. Russell. Sole holdout Edwin Janss decamped in 1919 after 
selling his residence at 434 S. Windsor Boulevard to Ora D. Funk, wife of oil producer 
Frederick O. Funk.  
 
 Harold and Henrietta (Janss) Braly sold their unimproved property, lot 81 and the 
southern fifty feet of lot 82, in early 1917 to James P. and Emma (Gusloss) Martin. 
While little is known about the Martins, it is clear they intended to reside on their new 
land. (See Figures 18-22, Page 38) As reported by the Los Angeles Times in April 1917, 
James Patrick Martin (1858-1940) was a retired capitalist from Sioux City, Iowa. On 
August 3, 1918 James was issued two City of Los Angeles building permits (#4008 and 
#4009) for the dwelling and detached garage to cost an estimated combined $26,250. 
Perhaps waiting for construction to finish, the Martins and their daughter Frances left 
from San Francisco on February 7, 1919 for a trip to Japan, China, Hong Kong, and the 
Philippines.  
 
 The Martins were likely a very private family. James was born in Galena, Illinois 
on August 22, 1858 but little is known about his life in Sioux City. The 1900 U.S. Federal 
Census (herein after Census) indicated the Martins were married in 1882 and that 
Frances (who, according to her 1919 U.S. passport application, was adopted) was born 
                                                
 9 Johannus Martyn Haenke (1877-1964) was born in Germany and began his architecture career 
in Australia. He moved to Los Angeles in 1905. He is perhaps best known for his collaboration with Julia 
Morgan and W.J. Dodd designing the Los Angeles Herald-Examiner Building.  
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in New York in 1896. Sioux City directories recorded the Martins in 1917. James was 
listed as the vice president of Continental Bank and treasurer of Sioux City Telephone 
Company. Upon their move to Los Angeles the Martins appear to have largely avoided 
listing in the local directories and mentions in the press. Some sources indicate Mr. 
Martin was the president of the Windsor Square Development Company. Efforts to 
verify this have yielded no such affiliation or even such an organization. The 1920 
Census indicated the Martins resided in their Windsor Square home with two female 
servants of French and Swedish birth. Frances married Englishman John H. Cubbon 
some time between her trips abroad in 1919 and 1923. In the spring of 1922 Mr. and 
Mrs. Martin sold their house to Henry and Cassie Boos for a reported $110,000. While it 
is unknown to where the Martins moved, the Los Angeles County Assessor’s records 
indicated that in 1927 Emma Martin purchased the Tudor-style house at 304 S. Windsor 
(commissioned by a previous owner). Both the 1930 and 1940 U.S. Federal Censuses 
recorded James and Emma at the 304 S. Windsor home. James died on October 26, 
1940 and was followed by Emma on September 16, 1941. They are buried at Hollywood 
Forever Cemetery.  
 
 In selling their home to Henry and Cassie Boos, the Martin residence became 
part of yet another prominent Windsor Square family. Henry Boos (1878-1957) and his 
older brothers Horace, O.J., and Cyrus all came to Los Angeles in 1906 from their 
native Ohio. Together the four brothers created a sizable cafeteria chain. Their first 
gamble was a restaurant downtown on 2nd Street, at which Orlando John “O.J” was 
chef, Cyrus was both butcher and baker, and Horace and Henry washed dishes, swept 
the floor and took in the money. From this humble beginning they built up a chain of 
eight cafeterias spread across downtown, Catalina Island, and San Francisco. In 1915 
Henry commissioned a home in Lafayette Square at 1651 Wellington Road. Several 
years later in 1922 he purchased the Martin’s residence. Eldest brother Horace already 
resided in Windsor Square at a house he commissioned in 1917 at 535 S. Plymouth 
Boulevard. Cyrus joined his brothers sometime in the 1920s by moving to 555 S. Irving 
Boulevard. At this time it is unclear if Cyrus commissioned the home. Henry and Cassie 
Boos resided at 454 S. Windsor for about as long as the Martins. In 1926 the Boos sold 
the property to candy confectioner Walter M. Petitfils for $150,000. In an interesting turn 
of events, that same year Henry and Cassie purchased Petitfils’ house  
at 545 S. Plymouth.10 (See Figures 23-26, Page 39) 
 
 After selling his own five-year-old home, Walter Marvin Petitfils (1880-1955) 
moved into 454 S. Windsor for apparently just a little over a year. In 1914 Petitfils was 
                                                
 10 A discrepancy exists in the year of purchase. The Los Angeles County Assessor’s records 
indicated Henry Boos purchased Walter Petitfils’ house in 1926 while the 2005 Los Angeles Historic-
Cultural Monument application for the property states 1927. It is also worth noting that Henry Boos, 
Horace Boos, and William Petitfils all commissioned architect Charles F. Plummer to design their houses. 
Plummer had designed a candy store for Petitfils and a cafeteria for Boos Brothers.   



 
 
 
 

11 

part owner of the Chocolate Shop Corporation responsible for commissioning the now 
famous downtown Chocolate Shop completely finished in a Dutch theme of Batchelder 
tiles. Nine years later in July 1923 Petitfils Confectionery merged with Brown Candy 
Company and in July 1925 the combined Petitfils Confiserie was sold to Glover E. Stith 
for a reported $500,000. (See Figures 27-28, Page 40) 
   
 Outside of the confection business, Petitfils was reportedly quite an auto 
enthusiast and rancher. In 1915 the Los Angeles Times reported him driving his 
Packard ‘forty-eight’ through the recently opened Newhall tunnel and again in 1923 
taking delivery of his new “De Lux Rolls Royce Coach Sedan.” As a rancher Petitfils was 
heavily invested. He had a personal home on 300 acres in the San Jacinto hills, the 
6,000-acre Wagon Wheel Ranch in Santa Ana Canyon, and a 309,000-acre cattle ranch 
in New Mexico.   
 
 Mr. Petitfils time at 454 S. Windsor was indeed quite short. On July 31, 1927 the 
Los Angeles Times reported Mr. and Mrs. Petitfils had just sold the property and were to 
take up residence elsewhere.11 An auction was to be held August 2nd to dispose of 
everything from furniture, consisting of among other things oriental rugs and a baby 
grand piano, to silverware and glassware. The Los Angeles County Assessor recorded 
the Petitfils sold the property in 1928 to Anne Treadway Marston. Some sources 
indicate the Petitfils moved a few doors north to 415 S. Windsor.  
 
 When Anne (Treadway) Marston purchased the property for herself and husband 
Edgar J. Marston they would soon become relations of a famous singer. Edgar Jean 
Marston (1988-1962) was born in Missouri and followed his father as a successful 
businessman. When he died in La Jolla in 1962 his estate of $7.6 million was reported 
to be the second largest in the history of San Diego County. In 1932 Edgar’s sister 
Jennie F. Marston married famed operatic baritone Lawrence Tibbett (1896-1960). The 
reportedly “quiet” wedding was held in the New York City home of their brother Hunter 
S. Marston. While no evidence has been found to verify claims that the newlyweds lived 
with Edgar and Anne, it seems likely they would have at least visited. The 1940 Census  
recorded the Tibbetts resided in Wilton, CT as of at least 1935. Regardless of the 
Tibbetts place of residence, the Marston’s made their mark on the home.  
 
 While living at the Windsor Estate the Marstons undertook several small 
renovations. In 1927 they enlarged the opening and window of a now vanished 
breakfast nook. On the second floor they remodeled the master bath and enclosed a 
porch (likely over the porte cochère). On the east end of the 2nd floor of the north wing, 
the long sleeping porch was enclosed and a new screen porch was added to the ground 
                                                
 11 Historical records suggest Walter Petitfils had two wives: Anna Erickson and Norma. It is 
currently unknown as to whom Walter was married while in residence at 454 S. Windsor.  
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floor along the north elevation. The following year a one-story addition was built on to 
the north elevation, likely as an expansion and enclosure of the recently added porch. 
While the Marston’s left a physical mark on the home, the next owner left an unfading 
celebrity association. 
 
 On November 13, 1936 the recently divorced Dolores Costello Barrymore (1903-
1979) acquired the home. (See Figures 29-31, Page 41) Dolores was the daughter of 
actors Maurice and Mae Costello. Her start, and greatest success, came early as a child 
actress in silent films. As early as 1909 she was credited as playing the role of a fairy in 
an adaptation of Shakespeare’s A Midsummer Night’s Dream. Many movies later in 
1926 she starred opposite John Barrymore in The Sea Beast. That same year the 
Western Association of Motion Picture Advertisers (WAMPAS) honored Dolores as one 
of their annual thirteen young actresses on the threshold of stardom, calling her “The 
Goddess of the Silver Screen.” Costello and Barrymore developed a romance and in 
1928 they married. In 1930 Dolores gave birth to daughter Dolores and in 1932 to her 
son John Drew. By early 1935 the press reported marital issues and in April it was 
announced Dolores had moved out. The following month she filed for divorce. John 
remarried on November 8, 1936 to actress Elaine Barrie.  
 
 Dolores’ first few years in the home were spent as a divorcée with her two young 
children. Title changed to her maiden name in 1938 and in December 1939 Dolores 
married her obstetrician Dr. John Vruwink (1890-1957). In April 1940 the Census 
recorded the family of four with a live-in maid, cook, and gardener. Title again changed 
in 1941 to Dolores C. Vruwink. In 1950 the couple divorced and on November 20, 1951 
Dolores sold the residence to Odell McConnell for $37,500. According to oral history 
passed down from McConnell, Dolores took all but one original chandelier.  
  
 Odell Seay McConnell (1897-1992) was a noted Los Angeles lawyer of some six 
decades. (See Figures 32-35, Pages 42-44) Born in Montana to a long line of lawyers 
and judges he graduated from Harvard Law School in 1923 and moved to Los Angeles 
the same year. He began practicing in 1924 and in 1932 he established an independent 
practice. McConnell’s was a frequent name in the society columns and he was often 
referred to as one of the City’s most eligible bachelors. He was repeatedly associated 
with society club The Bachelors. Later in life McConnell’s financial support enabled 
Pepperdine University to relocate its law school from Orange County to Malibu. On 
November 17, 1979 Pepperdine dedicated the Odell McConnell Law Center. McConnell 
also served on the law school board and helped establish the Hathaway Home for 
Children.  
 
 Under McConnell’s ownership one of the most dramatic changes was made to 
the residence. Oral history has it that McConnell replaced many of the lost original 
chandeliers with antiques acquired on European trips. In 1953 he constructed the 
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swimming pool within the preexisting parterre. After some forty years in the home, 
McConnell suffered a series of strokes and died on May 7, 1992. That same date the 
residence transferred to the treasurer’s office of Pepperdine University. Pepperdine 
retained the property until June 18, 1993 when it sold the dwelling to Frederick L. 
McKnight.  
 
 Frederick McKnight, a prominent Los Angeles attorney, resided in the home for 
twelve years. Two years into Frederick and Linda’s residency they remodeled the 
kitchen and family room. The following summer they performed structural stabilization 
work to the basement and carport. In 2000 they remodeled the master bathroom. Five  
years later on July 25, 2005 Mr. and Mrs. McKnight sold the residence to Wesley C. 
Walraven.  
 
 Over the course of Mr. Walraven’s eight years in the home he and partner Brian 
Moore undertook numerous restoration and renovation projects. Among these were 
restoring the mahogany paneling in the foyer, dining room, and back parlor. In the living 
room they restored the paint scheme to the believed original celadon green with gold 
leaf trim. In the foyer stairway the velvet banister railing and leaded glass windows were 
restored. The curved velvet-covered curtain rods are preserved. In September 2009 
Walraven and Moore added a second floor bathroom above the breakfast room and 
remodeled the adjacent two bedrooms and bathroom. Wesley Walraven sold the home 
on July 1, 2013 to Eric Andersen and Jeet Sohal.  
 
 Eric and Jeet have undertaken several projects in their short time in the home. 
Among these are seismic upgrading and remodeling portions of the detached garage 
building into office and guest room space.  
 
 

Public Record  
 
1918: Original Construction 

On August 3, 1918 the City of Los Angeles issued James P. Martin two building 
permits, one for the residence (#4008) and one for the detached garage (#4009). 
The dwelling would be two stories with a tile roof, measure 60 feet by 40 feet, 
and have a maximum height of 30 feet. There would be twelve rooms. The permit 
also indicated the residence would meet the State Dwelling House Act of 1917. 
Total cost to build would be $25,000. The one and a half-story garage was to 
have four rooms, a chimney and measure 23 feet, 8 inches by 35 feet, 4 inches. 
A total of $1,250 was estimated to build the one and a half story garage. Both 
permits list Frank L. Meline as architect and contractor (license numbers not 
given). (See Figures 37-38, Pages 46-47) 
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1919: Records of the Los Angeles County Assessor indicated 1919 was the first year in 
which the property was taxed with an improvement (Map Book 217, 1912-1922). 
The assessed value for 1919 was $3,380 for the land and $13,380 for the 
improvement.  

 
Early appraiser’s notes from the Assessor’s West District Office appear to have 
been lost and were only available from 1995 onward.  
 

1927: On August 10, 1927 the third owner Edgar J. Marston was issued building permit 
#22792 for several small renovations. On the first floor he planned to a) enlarge  

 the breakfast nook and window in the kitchen and b) to remodel and enlarge the 
closets in the hall and convert into a lavatory. The location was not specified. 
Item c): on the second floor of the southeast wing Marston would enclose a porch 
and remodel the master bathroom. The porch was probably located above the 
porte cochère. Referring to the porch enclosure, the permit specified that the 
north part was to be removed and the existing porch was to be used to enlarge 
the bedroom. An opening in the north wall of the existing porch would be closed 
and a window on the back wall was to be relocated to the east wall. The existing 
bathroom was to be converted into two 8 foot by 8 foot bathrooms by using the 
existing closet in the same location. Lastly, item d) in the northwest bedroom one 
closet was to be removed to enlarge the other closet. Total estimated cost of the 
work was $3,000. Barker Brothers Studio (license number not given) was listed 
as the architect and West Brothers (license number not given) as the contractor.   

 
 Porch Enclosure  

A year later on September 3rd Marston received building permit #25492.  Work 
would entail a) on the second floor, northeast corner, building a new enclosure of 
the 7-foot by 23-foot porch and b) on the first floor, building a new screen porch 
on north elevation. Barker Brothers Studio and West Brothers were again hired 
as the architect and contractor respectively. The work was estimated to cost 
$800.  

 
1928: On October 23rd Marston was issued permit #29628 for the addition of one room 
 to cost $1,750. The one-story room was to measure 11 feet by 17 feet. Los 
 Angeles County Assessor’s records indicate the addition, situated along the north 
 elevation, was built in place of the earlier screen porch. United Pacific Securities 
 Corporation was listed as the architect and B. Tanner as the contractor 
 (license numbers not given). 

  
1932: Edgar Marston was issued permit #18579 on November 16, 1932 to recover, with 

canvas, seventeen rope pull-up awnings on the first and second floors. William H. 



 
 
 
 

15 

Hoegee Company (lic. #24710) was listed as the contractor. Total cost was 
estimated at $170. 

 
1953: Swimming Pool 

Fifth owner Odell McConnell received permit #66188 on August 3, 1953 for the 
construction of a swimming pool. The pool was to cost $2,300 and measure 35 
feet by 15 feet. Peter Whitehill (lic. #449) was the listed engineer and Paddock 
Engineering Co. (lic. #39044) as the contractor.  

 
1995: Kitchen & Family Room Remodel 
 On July 31, 1995 Frederick and Linda McKnight were issued permit #39868 to 

“remodel the kitchen and family room.” The work was estimated to cost $50,000.  
 Mary Pickhardt (lic. #C25772) was listed as the architect.12 Michael Ishler (lic. 

#SE3684) was the engineer and Jose Bunge of Alisal Construction (lic. #40517-
44 and B-615864) was the contractor.  

   
1996: July 15, 1996 the McKnights were issued permit #38467 to “replace [a] portion of 

[the] basement wall, add frame at carport [and] repair [the] porch.” Total valuation 
of the work was $20,000. Jose Bunge (lic. #719758), now of Bunge Construction, 
was listed as the contractor.13 Rob Rodgers (lic. #41079) served as the engineer.  

 
2000: Master Bedroom & Bathroom   

The McKnights were issued permit #00016-10000-24029 on December 14, 2000 
to remodel the “master bedroom toilet and bathroom.” Work was to cost $15,000. 
Mr. McKnight was listed as the owner-builder.    

 
2009: 2nd Floor Guest Bedroom & Bath Remodel   

September 15, 2009 ninth owner Wesley C. Walraven was issued permit  
#09014-10000-02249 to remodel several bathrooms and bedrooms. First among 
these was to add a second floor addition of 150 square feet to be located over 
the existing breakfast room. The space was to be used as a new bathroom. The 
Second permitted project was to entail remodeling the adjacent 825 square feet 
(northeast corner) consisting of two bedrooms and bathrooms. Mr. Walraven 
signed a declaration verifying he was the owner-builder. Anthony P. Zubick filed 
the permit application.  

 

                                                
12 At the time of the permit Mary Pickhardt had received her California architects license only the 

month before on June 28. She remains in private practice concentrating on historically sensitive 
residential renovation. 

13 Like Pickhardt, Jose Bunge’s California contractor’s license was issued only a few months 
before on March 6, 1996. As of this report his license remains expired since March 31, 2012. 
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2013: On November 5, 2013 new owner Eric Andersen was issued permit #13016-
10000-22905 to perform seismic upgrading. The work would entail adding “sill 
plate anchor bolts and cripple wall plywood per LA City Standard Plan #1: no 
foundation replacement.” Seismic Safety Inc. (lic. #B662926) was the cited 
contractor.  

 
Disclaimer: 
       The information in this report is based solely on a review of the public records. While the 
author has endeavored to provide an accurate summary of these records, the report may contain 
material inaccuracies or omissions. The report should not be relied upon as a diligence report on 
the condition of the property or proper permitting. 
 
 

Architectural Style 
 
The Windsor Estate reflects two of the most popular styles of the period: 

Mediterranean Revival and Italian Renaissance Revival. The former was popular from 
1910 to the early 1930s and drew inspiration not only from Spain and Mexico but also 
from Italy and from the Islamic world of North Africa.14 Mediterranean Revival utilized 
specific historical examples and borrowed decorative details from a range of historical 
Spanish architecture including Renaissance, Byzantine, Moorish, and Gothic. Italian 
Renaissance Revival, popular between 1890 and 1935, largely drew inspiration from the 
Italian palazzos of the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries. Usually employed in grand 
houses, Italian Renaissance Revival was primarily a style exemplified by urban 
buildings designed by architects. Early examples of the style were often finished with 
wood cladding and were based on pattern book drawings. In later years architects and 
clients with first hand knowledge of Italian buildings enhanced the style. Stucco and 
masonry walls became the norm. The two styles were particularly popular in southern 
California because of how easily they could be integrated.  

 
 The Windsor Estate is characterized first and foremost by the stucco walls and 
tile roofs indicative of both Italian Renaissance Revival and Mediterrean Revival. While 
not unique to either style, other details of the home speak to specific influences. The 
relatively narrow boxed eave overhangs are characteristic of Mediterranean Revival 
rather than the broad overhangs and brackets indicative of the Italian influence. Other 
details of the home largely reflect Italian Renaissance Revival. Beginning with its 
symmetrical massing punctuated by a projecting central bay and hipped roof. The 
Windsor Estate’s classical front entry is quintessential Italian Renaissance Revival with 
                                                
 14 Bertram Goodhue and Carleton Winslow, Sr. as architects of the 1915 Panama-California 
Exposition in San Diego popularized the Mediterranean Revival style. Unlike the Windsor Estate, the 
architecture of the Expo drew largely on ornate and urban Spanish Baroque examples of the eighteenth 
century. The Expo did for Mediterranean Revival in Southern California what the 1893 Chicago World’s 
Fair did for Beaux Arts architecture across America.  
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its Tuscan columns, Ionic capitals, and entablature with egg and dart cornice. 
Mediterranean Revival doorways are often more intricately ornamented with  
Churrigueresque15 detail. The four Tuscan pilasters on the front façade further reflect 
Italian inspiration.  
 

 
Frank Louis Meline 
(1875-1944) 
 
Designer & Builder 

 
Frank Louis Meline is widely known as one of the most 

influential real estate operators in Los Angeles history. While he is 
perhaps best known for developing vast residential tracts, Meline was 
also a prolific designer/builder of grand estates and a pioneer of house-
to-house laundry services. Meline’s prominence in both civic and club 
affairs added to his mark on Los Angeles. (See Figures 39-46, Pages 
48-51) 

 
Born on August 5, 1875 in Jacksonville, IL, Meline was the son 

of a Portuguese farmer. Meline’s father Joseph was born on the island 
of Madeira and likely met his bride Mary Fortado after immigrating in 
1845, and eventually settling in Illinois. Mary and Joseph married on 
January 12, 1860. Little is known about Meline’s family other than that 
he had an older sister Mary who remained in Illinois.   

 
Meline’s early years were spent in Illinois but he soon made his way west. He 

was educated at the Springfield Business College before leaving and working as a 
bookkeeper and salesman for local firms. In 1902, at the age of 27, Meline came to Los 
Angeles. He first settled in as a window dresser for A. Hamburger and Sons, an early 
department store.16 Over the next ten years he worked his way up to merchandise 
display manager before leaving in 1912 to enter the building trade. Commissions came 
quickly with at least one Mediterranean/Classical Revival residence in 1913. Though 
                                                
 15 Churrigueresque originates from the highly decorative style of Late Baroque Spanish 
architecture and derives its name from architect Jose Benito de Churriguera (1665-1725) and his two 
architect brothers Joaquin (1674-1724) and Alberto (1676-1750). The brothers came from a family of 
noted sculptors who specialized in elaborately carved retables (carved or painted superstructures at the 
rear of an altar or on their own pedestals).  

16 Asher Hamburger founded A. Hamburger and Sons in Sacramento before moving the business 
to Los Angeles in 1881. Known as “The People’s Store,” Hamburgers was bought out by May Company 
in the 1920’s.  

Frank L. Meline, 
undated. 
Source:  
National Cyclopedia 
of American 
Biography, 1947. 
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Meline was not a licensed architect (publicity credited him as “designer and builder” or 
similarly) he was clearly gifted in his design ability. He was a master of revival styles 
such as Mediterranean, Spanish, Colonial, Tudor, French/Norman, English Cottage, and 
even Moorish. Among his prominent clients were Hulda R. Braden, R.M. Dyer, Kirk B. 
Johnson, W.B. Joyce, A.C. Mankowski, and King C. Gillette. Among the residences he 
designed in Windsor Square are 403 and 505 S. Windsor Boulevard and 425 S. 
Lorraine Boulevard. Meline continued designing and building through the early 1920s 
before shifting his professional focus.  

 
While still designing and building, in 1919 Meline entered the real estate business 

establishing the Frank Meline Company. Success came swiftly. During 1919-1921 
Meline Co. sold more than fifty percent of the real estate in Beverly Hills. In 1921 Frank  
incorporated Frank Meline Company with an authorized capitalization of $1,000,000. 
This marked a period of significant expansion as his company opened a central office 
downtown with branch offices located in Hollywood, the Wilshire district, Beverly Hills, 
Pasadena, and Burbank. Meline was the exclusive developer of California Riviera, 
Castellamarre, and Brentwood Green, as well as being one of the original developers of 
Bel-Air. Meline was also affiliated with the subdivisions of Oak Knoll, Larchmont 
Heights, Los Feliz Park, and Woodland Heights.  

 
Failing health in 1941 led Meline to sell the business to J.Y. Blaikie, his general 

manager since 1923. Retirement was not in the cards however and Meline turned his 
attention to his laundry and cleaning business he established in 1913. That year he 
founded Hollywood Laundry and with it pioneered regular laundry service to residences 
using horse drawn wagons. From there he acquired both California Laundry and Beverly 
Hills Laundry. In 1933 he purchased City Dye Works, Los Angeles’ oldest cleaning and 
dyeing operation. Meline developed the business into the largest on the west coast. 
Meline’s civic role originated when Mayor George E. Cryer (1921-1929) appointed him 
to the Board of Harbor Commissioners. Meline served as vice president until 1927. He 
was reportedly a member of numerous clubs including Los Angeles Athletic, Hollywood 
Athletic, Long Beach, Bel-Air Country Club, and the Brentwood Country Club.  

 
Before coming to California Frank Meline married his bride, Alma Henrietta 

Wellman. Frank and Alma likely met in Springfield where she lived with her family and 
he attended Springfield Business College. The two married in Springfield on November 
28, 1901. They had one son, Frank Wellman Meline who died as an infant in 1907.  By 
the late 1920s Frank and Alma moved to 626 N. Bedford Drive in Beverly Hills. While 
documentation is lacking to determine if he designed and built the residence, it seems 
likely. They remained at the residence until at least 1940. Frank died on August 17, 
1944. His Los Angeles Times obituary stated the Melines resided at 331 N. Rockingham 
Avenue in Brentwood, though this is unverified. Alma survived him for another 24 years 
before passing on July 5, 1968. They are buried in Hollywood Forever Cemetery.  
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Design/Build Commissions 
George B. Dickinson Residence (1913) – 331 Palisades Avenue, Santa  

Monica (Santa Monica Landmark #65) 
C. Reed Waterman Mausoleum (1914) project – Inglewood 
5th Church of Christ, Scientist, Hollywood (MOSAIC Church) (1915)  

-- 7107 Hollywood Boulevard 
Garden Court Apartment Hotel (1916) – 7021 Hollywood Boulevard  
Graham Residence (1917) – 5137 Franklin Avenue 
Julius A. Brown Residence (1918) – 305 Georgina Avenue, Santa Monica 
Fox Theater (1918) – 6508 Hollywood Boulevard 
William J. Toomey Residence (1918) – 425 S. Plymouth Boulevard 
C. Samuels Residence (1918) – 425 Lorraine Avenue 
P.G. Winnett Residence (1918) – San Vicente Boulevard, Santa Monica 
J.B. Okie Residence (1918) – Orange Grove Avenue, Pasadena 
James P. Martin Residence (1918) – 454 S. Windsor Boulevard 
Jefferson L. Byrne Residence (1919) – 403 S. Windsor Boulevard 
Otto Sweet Residence (1919) – 505 S. Windsor Boulevard 
H.H. Yanow Building (1920) – 6533 Hollywood Boulevard 
Norman A. Pabst Residence (1920) – Beverly Hills 
E.M. Brandt Residence (1921) – Windsor Square 
R.M. Dyar Residence (1921) – Beverly Hills   
Ruskin Art Club (1922) – 800 S. Plymouth Boulevard (LA Landmark #639) 
Hulda R Braden Residence (1924) – 708 Foothill Drive, Beverly Hills 
William M. McGee Residence (1925) – Los Angeles 
 
 
Conclusion 
 

 The Windsor Estate’s story is not simply a legacy of renowned designer/builder 
Frank Meline or of numerous illustrious and important owners. Its story has evolved to 
that of a nearly century-old dwelling retaining many of its character-defining features 
and thus a high degree of historical integrity.17 Character-defining features are those 
tangible visible elements, which distinguish a building’s architectural and historical 
character and contribute to historical significance. The Windsor Estate retains its original 
setting of a large corner lot and continues to possess its architectural blend of Italian 
Renaissance Revival and Mediterranean Revival throughout its exterior with elements 
as simple as its red tile roof, to the balanced façade with central entry bay, to the 
elaborate columns and entablature surrounding the entry. These elements were 

                                                
 17 As defined by the National Register Bulletin 15: How to Apply the National Register Criteria for 
for Evaluation, 2002, “Integrity is the ability of a property to convey its Significance.” 
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designed and built by Frank Meline for the original owners James and Emma Martin in 
1918. Just as the property’s size and architecture conveyed a sense of elegant 
grandeur and status for the Martins, within a community of grand homes, it continues to 
do so today. In doing so, it survives as a contributor to the designated Windsor Square 
Historic Preservation Overlay Zone.  
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Early History and Historical Context: Windsor Square 
             

Figure 1: Old Spanish and Mexican Ranchos of Los Angeles County, 1937. Windsor Square lies 
along the eastern boundary of Rancho La Brea, within the yellow public lands.  

Source: Los Angeles Public Library, Map Collection, #MAP-00018. Gerald A. Eddy, creator.  
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Figure 2: Obituary of Capt. John C. Plummer, early land owner of present day Windsor Square. 
In June 1892 Capt. Plummer sold 200 acres, of his 640, to the Windsor Square Land Company. 
Los Angeles Herald, August 24, 1909.  
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Figure 3: Windsor Square Land Company 
incorporates on March 17, 1892. Los 
Angeles Herald, March 18, 1892. 

Figure 4: Windsor Square Land Company acquires present day Windsor 
Square, June 1892. Los Angeles Herald, June 12, 1892.  
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TO MAKE NEW CHESTER PLACE IN WESTERN PART OF CITY.: Syndicate Buys a ...
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); Jun 3, 1911; 
ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times (1881-1990)
pg. II1

Figure 5: Windsor Square Investment Company purchases tract 
for $1,000,000. Los Angeles Times, June 3, 1911. 
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Figure 6: Windsor Square to “Become 
Most Aristocratic Residence 
Subdivision.” Los Angeles Times,  
June 4, 1911. 

Figure 7: New building plan for 
Windsor Square. Los Angeles Times, 
July 23, 1911. 
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Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Display Ad 25 -- No Title
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); Sep 22, 1911; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times
pg. I6

Figure 8: Display ad emphasizing the masterful design of Windsor Square 
(Tract No. 1390). Los Angeles Times, September 22, 1911.  
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Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Display Ad 220 -- No Title
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); Mar 22, 1914; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times
pg. VI4

Figure 9: Display ad highlighting the generous setbacks and 50 
year building restrictions of Windsor Square (Tract No. 1390). 
Los Angeles Times, March 22, 1914.  

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Display Ad 168 -- No Title
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); Jul 26, 1914; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times
pg. VI5

Figure 10: Display ad for 
Windsor Square emphasizes its 
costly beaty would be 
maintained in perpetuity. Los 
Angeles Times, July 26, 1914.  
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Owner History: The Janss Family  
   

Figure 12: “All in the Family.” 
LA Times, October 6, 1912.  

Figure 13: “West End House 
Italian in Type.” LA Times, 
December 29, 1912. 

Figure 11: “Whole Family on the 
Square.” LA Times, September 9, 1911. 
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NEW YORKER PURCHASES FAMOUS JANSS MANSION.: Show Place and Its New Owners.
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); Mar 9, 1917; 
ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times (1881-1990)
pg. II5

Figure 15: Sale of Dr. Peter Janss Residence, March 
1917. Los Angeles Times, March 9, 1917.  

Figure 14: Dr. Edwin Janss Residence. Los Angeles Times, January 5, 1913.  
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Figure 17: Obituary of Dr. Edwin Janss. 
Los Angeles Times, August 20, 1959.  

Figure 16: Obituary of Mrs. Henrietta 
Braly. Los Angeles Times,  
October 5, 1935.  
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 Owner History: James P. and Emma G. Martin     

          
  

Figure 18: James P. & Emma G. 
Martin, 1924. Source: ancestry.com 

Figure 19 & 20:  Press Announcing James P. Martin’s Property 
acquisition and Intention to Build. Los Angeles Times,  
April 22 & 29, 1917.  

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.Figure 21: Editorial by James P. Martin. Los Angeles 
Times, July 24, 1922.  

Figure 22: Death Notice of James P. 
Martin. Los Angeles Times,  
October 27, 1940. 
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Owner History: Henry & Cassie Boos  
 

Figure 24: Henry & Cassie Boos Acquire Martin Residence for 
$110,000. Los Angeles Times, April 2, 1922.  

Figure 23: Henry Boos, undated. 
Source: Glancing Back Along. . ,1926. 

Figure 25: Henry Boos & Walter M. 
Petitfils Sell. Los Angeles Times,  
May 16, 1926.  

Figure 26: Obituary of Henry Boos.  
Los Angeles Times, April 10, 1957.  
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 Owner History: Walter M. Petitfils  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Display Ad 43 -- No Title
Los Angeles Times (1923-Current File); Aug 9, 1923; 
ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times (1881-1990)
pg. I12

Figure 27: Petitfils Confiserie Advertisement.  
Los Angeles Times, August 9, 1923.  

Figure 28: Petitfils Auction 
Announcement. Los Angeles Times,  
July 31, 1927.  
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Owner History: Dolores Costello Barrymore  
    

 

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        
        
        
        
         

Figure 29: Dolores Costello Barrymore, circa 
early 1930s.  

Figure 30: Dolores Costello Barrymore Weds Dr. John 
Vruwink. Los Angeles Times, December 2, 1939.  

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Pasadena Civic to Present Its Third Concert
Los Angeles Times (1923-Current File); Mar 23, 1941; 
ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times (1881-1990)
pg. C5

Figure 31: Vruwink’s Host 
Spanish Musical Program. 
LA Times, March 23, 1941.  
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 Owner History: Odell S. McConnell       
             
             
             
             
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

             
             
             
             
    
  
              
 

Figure 32: Odell S. McConnell, undated.  

Figure 33: McConnell Buys for 
$37,500. Los Angeles Times, 
December 23, 1951.  
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Figure 34a: McConnell Party. Los Angeles Times,  
August 21, 1956.  
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   Figure 35: Obituary of Odell S. McConnell, Los Angeles Times, May 9, 1992.  

Figure 34b: Continued - McConnell Party. Los Angeles Times, August 21, 1956.  
 

Odell McConnell, Law Center Founder 
 
Odell S. McConnell, founder of Pepperdine University's Odell McConnell Law Center in Malibu, has died. He was 95. 
 

A Los Angeles lawyer for more than six decades, McConnell died Thursday at his home in Hancock Park after a series of 
strokes.  
 

"Pepperdine has lost a great friend in the death of Odell McConnell,"  
 

Pepperdine President David Davenport said. "Through his friendship and wise counsel, he has made an impact on the 
lives of lawyers for generations to come." 
 

Pepperdine Chancellor Charles B. Runnels, a close friend of McConnell's for more than 25 years, said that McConnell 
considered the law center "his crowning achievement." 
 

"It stands as a magnificent tribute to the man who made it possible," Runnels said. 
 

McConnell's financial support made possible the law school's move from Orange County to the Malibu campus in the late 
1970s. 
 

"Today's young people will control and determine the welfare of our nation tomorrow with its cherished democratic 
institutions," McConnell said at the 1976 groundbreaking. "I feel very humble and grateful to have been offered the 
opportunity to play a major part in creating a law building named in my honor, where students are taught the ideals of a 
free society based on laws that reflect honor and equal justice for all." 
 

Born in Montana in a long family line of lawyers and judges, McConnell was educated at Yale University and Harvard Law 
School. 
 

He served in the U.S. Navy during World War I and re-enlisted as a lieutenant commander during World War II. 
 

In addition to his work at Pepperdine, which included serving as a member of the university and the law school boards, 
McConnell helped establish the Hathaway Home for Children. He also was a patron of the Los Angeles County Music 
Center and a former trustee of Immanuel Presbyterian Church. 
 

He is survived by a nephew, Alexander Thomason, Lakeworth, Fla. The family has asked that any memorial 
contributions be made to the Odell S. McConnell Scholarship at Pepperdine School of Law. 
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 Public Record: Permit History        
             
             
   
  

Permit # Date Description Architect/Engineer Builder/Contractor Owner

4008 8/3/18

Construction: 2-story, 12 room 
residence. 60x40 ft, max height 30 ft, 
concrete foundation, redwood mudsills, 
tile roof, one brick chimney. $26,250. 
(including garage, below)

(A) Frank L. Meline Frank L. Meline James P. Martin

4009 8/3/18

Construction: 1½-story, 4 room garage. 
35-4x23-8, max height 20 ft, concrete 
foundation, redwood mudsills, tile roof, 
one brick chimney. 

(A) Frank L. Meline Frank L. Meline James P. Martin

22792 8/10/27

Alteration: a) enlarge breakfast nook &  
kitchen window, b) remodel & enlarge 
hall closet, convert into a lavatory, c)  
enclose 2nd floor southeast porch and 
remodel master bathroom. $3,000.

(A) Barker Bros. Studio West Bros. Edgar L. Marston

25492 9/3/27

Alteration: a) enclose 23x7 ft sleeping  
porch on 2nd floor, b) build a new screen 
porch off 1st floor of north elevation. 
$800.

(A) Barker Bros. Studio West Bros. Edgar L. Marston

29628 10/23/28 Addition: one room to residence, $1,750. (A) United Pacific Security Corp. B. Tanner Edgar L. Marston

18579 11/16/32
Alteration: recover, with canvas, 17 rope 
pull up awnings on 1st and 2nd floors. 
$170.

William H. Hoegee Co. Edgar L. Marston

66188 8/3/53 Construction: swimming pool, 35x15 ft, 
$2,300. (E) Pete Whitehill Paddock Engineering Co. Odell S. McConnell

39868 7/31/95 Alteration: remodel kitchen & family 
room. $50,000. (A) Mary Pickhardt Alisal Construction Frederick McKnight

38467 7/15/96 Alteration: repair portion basement wall, 
"carport," & porch. $20,000. (E) Rob Rodgers Bunge Construction Frederick McKnight

00016-10000-24029 12/14/00 Alteration: remodel master bedroom & 
bath. $15,000. (E) Omer Bilge Frederick McKnight Frederick McKnight

09014-10000-02249 9/15/09

Alteration: a) add new bath above 
breakfast room (150 sqft), b) remodel 
two adjacent bedrooms & baths. 
$40,000.

(A) Anthony Zubick Wesley C. Walraven Wesley C. Walraven

13016-10000-22905 11/5/13 Alteration: sesmic upgrading. $5,950. Seismic Safety Co. Eric Andersen

Figure 36: Comprehensive building permit list.  
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Figure 37: Original residence building permit, 1918.  
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Figure 38:  Original garage building permit, 1918. 
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FRANK LOUIS MELINE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
             
             
             

Figure 39: Frank L. Meline, undated.  Source: The National Cyclopeadia of 
American Biography, 1947.  
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OF AMERICAN BIOGRAPHY.

269

newspaper in the city. Upon the death of Smith

in 1922 Warren Charles Fairbanks, an elder

brother of Richard Fairbanks, became president

of the Indianapolis News Publishing Co. and

when he died in 1938 Frederick Cole Fairbanks

(q.v.) assumed the office. Richard Fairbanks con-

tinued as vice president until the death of Fred-

erick C. Fairbanks in 1940, when he became presi-

dent and publisher. In the spring of 1944 the

News acquired radio station WIBC and he was

elected its president. From 1930 to 1940 he was

president of the American Switch & Frog Co. He

was a member of the Masonic order (32d degree,

Shriner), I.O.O.F., Delta Kappa Epsilon and the

Columbia, Woodstock, Dramatic and University

clubs of Indianapolis. In religion he was a

Methodist and in politics a Republican. His chief

recreations were horse racing and bridge. He

was married twice: (1) in Indianapolis, June 7,

1911, to Louise, daughter of Harold Hibben of that

city, a merchant; she died in 1912; (2) in Indi-

anapolis, Nov. 14, 1918, to Robertine, daughter of

Robert Buchanan of that city, a merchant. By his

first marriage he had a son, Richard Monroe, and

by his second a son, Michael Buchanan Fairbanks.

He died in Indianapolis, July 26, 1944.

MELINE, Frank Louis, builder and realtor,

was born in Jacksonville, 11l., Aug. 5, 1875, son

of Joseph and Mary (Fortado) Meline. His fa-

ther, a farmer, was born on the island of Madeira

and came to America in 1845. Frank L. Meline

was educated at Jacksonville public schools and

the Springfield (Hl.) Business College. After

leaving school he worked for short periods as a

bookkeeper and salesman with local business firms.

In 1902 he moved to Los Angeles, where he was

employed as a window dresser by the Hamburger

Department Store. He had worked his way to the

position of merchandise display manager when he

left in 1912 to enter the building business. Dur-

ing the ensuing years he constructed some of the

largest and finest homes in Hollywood, Beverly

Hills, Pasadena and Los Angeles. Other build-

ings constructed by him include the Fifth Church

of Christ, Scientist, and the Garden Court apart-

ments in Hollywood. In 1919 he went into the

real estate business, continuing his building ac-

tivities until 1924. Operating as the Frank

Meline Co., he placed on the market some of the

finest residential districts in the environs of Los

Angeles. He was the exclusive agent for proper-

ties on Lake Arrowhead and in Beverly Hills and

during 1919-21 sold more than 50 per cent of the

real estate in Beverly Hills. He was the original

developer of California Riviera, Castellamarre

and Brentwood Green and one of the original de-

velopers of Bel-Air, and was engaged in other

real estate enterprises, including several recrea-

tional beach projects. In 1941 he sold his real

estate business and thereafter devoted himself to

the laundry and cleaning businesses that he had

entered in 1913. His first venture in this field was

the Hollywood Laundry, which was a pioneer in

establishing a regular service to homes. Later

he acquired the California Laundrv and the Bev-

erly Hills Laundry. In 1933 he bought the City

Dye Works, the oldest cleaning and dyeing estab-

lishment in Los Angeles, which under his manage-

ment became the largest on the Pacific coast. All

these properties were operated by the Laundry

Properties Co., Inc. During 1924-27 he was a

member of the board of harbor commissioners of

Los Angeles. He was a member of the Los An-

geles Athletic, Hollywood Athletic, Long Beach,

Bel-Air Country, Vermajo Hunting, Brentwood

Country and Santa Monica Swimming clubs. In

religion he was a Christian Scientist and in poli-

tics a Republican. He was married in Springfield,

11l., Nov. 28, 1901, to Alma Henrietta, daughter

of Frank Wallace Wellman, of that place, a tobac-

conist, and they had a son, Frank Wellman Meline

(died in infancv). Frank L. Meline died in Los

Angeles, Calif.,'Aug. 17, 1944.

GILLIS, Alexander James, urologist, was born

in Carbondale, Pa., Oct. 13, 1888, son of Alexan-

der Francis Gillis, a physician, and Anna Amelia

(Boyle) Gillis. He received his pre-medical edu-

cation in his native town and at St. Thomas'

College, Scranton, Pa., and then entered the Col-

lege of Physicians and Surgeons, Baltimore, Md.,

where he was graduated M.D. in 1914. Later he

took a graduate course in pediatrics. During

1915-17 he was assistant superintendent of Syd-

enham Hospital, in Baltimore, leaving that posi-

tion when the United States entered the First

World War to join the medical corps of the U.S.

army. Four months after his arrival in France

he was gassed and later received a serious shrap-

nel wound. He served overseas with a British

army unit and was decorated with the British

Military Cross as well as the American Order of

the Purple Heart. After his return to the United

States and while convalescing, he studied ur-

ology at the Mercy and Johns Hopkins hospitals

in Baltimore, serving as an intern at the former

institution. Later he was appointed assistant

urologist at the Colonial Hospital, Baltimore, and

opened an office for the private practice of his

specialty. In 1922 he became chief urologist at

the Mercy Hospital, holding that position until

1937 when failing health forced him to retire.

For a number of years he was also clinical profes-

sor of genito urinary surgery at the University

of Maryland Medical School. Much of his pri-

vate practice was charitable. Gillis was a fellow

of the American College of Surgeons and a mem-
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Figure 40: Frank L. Meline (1875-1944), undated. Source: The National 
Cyclopedia of American Biography, Vol. 33, 1947.  
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Figure 41: Frank Meline Co. Offices at Beverly Boulevard and 
Western Avenue, 1924.  
Source: California Historical Society Collection, USC Library, #DW-1924-49-62. 

Figure 42: Garden Court Apartment Hotel (1918), Frank Meline. 7021 Hollywood 
Boulevard. 1924.  
Source: Los Angeles Public Library, #00038220.  
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Frank Meline Design Build Commissions in Windsor Square 
             
              
      
 
 
 
 

 
         Source: GoogleEarth.com 

Figure 43: W.J. Toomey Residence (1918),  
425 S. Plymouth Boulevard. 

Figure 45: J.L. Byrne Residence (1919),  
403 S. Windsor Boulevard.  

 

Figure 44: C. Samuels Residence (1918),  
425 Lorraine Avenue.  

Figure 46: Otto Sweet Residence (1919),  
505 S. Windsor Boulevard.  

 




